Methodology European RMBS Insight: Dutch Addendum

DBRS Morningstar April 2023

Previous Release

March 2022

Contents

- 1 Related Research
- 1 Key Updates
- 1 Scope and Limitations
- 2 Executive Summary
- 2 Dutch Loan Scoring Approach
- 7 Dutch Segmentation and Delinquency Migration Matrices
- 9 Dutch Correlation
- 10 Dutch House Prices
- 10 Dutch Distressed Sale Discount
- 11 Dutch Foreclosure Costs
- 11 Dutch Constant Prepayment Rate Assumptions
- 12 Dutch Cash Flow Assumptions
- 13 Appendix A

Ketan Thaker

Managing Director Head of European RMBS & Covered Bonds +44 20 3356 1525 ketan.thaker@dbrsmorningstar.com

Ronja Dahmen

Vice President European RMBS +49 69 8088 3525 ronja.dahmen@dbrsmorningstar.com

Christian Aufsatz

Managing Director Head of European Structured Finance +44 20 7855 6664 christian.aufsatz@dbrsmorningstar.com

Claire Mezzanotte

Group Managing Director Head of Global Structured Finance +1 212 806 3272 claire.mezzanotte@dbrsmorningstar.com

Related Research

For a list of the Structured Finance related methodologies for our principal Structured Finance asset class methodologies that may be used during the rating process, please see the *DBRS Morningstar Global Structured Finance Related Methodologies* document on www.dbrsmorningstar.com. Please note that not every related methodology listed under a principal Structured Finance asset class methodology may be used to rate or monitor an individual structured finance or debt obligation.

Key Updates

For key updates to this methodology, please refer to the press release titled "DBRS Morningstar Publishes Final European RMBS Insight: Dutch Addendum" dated 24 April 2023.

Scope and Limitations

A methodology sets forth the key analytical considerations and applicable analytics used when DBRS Morningstar assigns or monitors credit ratings or other opinions. DBRS Morningstar applies approved methodologies in the evaluation of a structured finance transaction or debt obligation. Quantitative and qualitative factors set forth in a methodology or in a combination of methodologies are evaluated by a DBRS Morningstar rating committee or discussion group that exercises analytical judgment and considers the regulatory environment, market standards, and customary practices in addition to other factors deemed relevant to the analysis.

As part of the evaluation process, DBRS Morningstar may opine as to whether a sponsor's proposed capital structure supports the assignment of a given rating(s), the loss level(s) the capital structure is able to withstand, or the rating level(s) supported by a sponsor's proposed capital structure. Once completed, this process facilitates the assignment of a DBRS Morningstar rating, at a given rating level.

In cases when an applicable methodology does not address one or more elements of a structured finance transaction or obligation, or such element(s) differs from the expectations contemplated when an applicable methodology was approved, DBRS Morningstar may apply analytical judgment in the determination of any related analytical factor, assumption, rating, or other opinion. For a methodology that incorporates the use of a predictive model, DBRS Morningstar may also depart from the rating stress(es) implied by the predictive model. DBRS Morningstar typically expects there to be a substantial likelihood that a reasonable investor or other user of the credit rating(s) would consider a three-notch or more deviation from the rating stress(es) implied by the predictive model

to be a significant factor in evaluating the rating(s). When a rating committee determines a material deviation, DBRS Morningstar discloses the material deviation and its analytical judgment for the material deviation.

Executive Summary

This report is the Dutch Addendum to DBRS Morningstar's *European RMBS Insight Methodology* (the Methodology). The report outlines the country-specific aspects of the Methodology to estimate defaults and losses for Dutch RMBS and Covered Bonds. This addendum should be read in parallel with the Methodology. The addendum includes an overview of

- Data used for building the Dutch Loan Scoring Approach and Dutch Delinquency Migration Matrices,
- 2. Dutch Loan Scoring Approach (Dutch LSA),
- 3. Dutch Dynamic Delinquency Migration Matrices (Dutch DMM),
- 4. Dutch Correlation Assumption,
- 5. Dutch House Prices,
- 6. Dutch Distressed Sale Discount,
- 7. Dutch Foreclosure Costs,
- 8. Dutch CPR Assumptions, and
- 9. Dutch Cash Flow Assumptions.

Data

The Dutch LSA and the Dutch DMM were constructed using loan-level data from the European DataWarehouse (EDW). Distressed Sale Discounts and rescission rates were calculated using repossession data and Nationale Hypotheek Garantie (NHG) payout data, respectively, provided by Dutch issuers or, if available, obtained from the EDW.

House price data from Statistics Netherlands (CBS) was used to generate a base house price forecast and market value declines (MVDs). Additionally, the monthly Dutch Harmonised Consumer Price Index (CPI) from Eurostat was used to calculate real house prices.

Dutch Loan Scoring Approach

Dutch LSA Sample

In the first stage of the portfolio defaults and portfolio losses estimation for Dutch mortgages, loans¹ are scored dynamically over a forecast horizon in the Dutch LSA. The technology used to build the Dutch LSA is logistic regression. To build a score in this framework, a loan's risk characteristics at a point in time (the as-of date) and a binary outcome variable that represents the loan's performance over a period of time subsequent to the as-of date must be known.

¹ Dutch borrowers typically have multiple loan parts on a property. A set of aggregation rules for a single borrower over each property is applied for the construction of the Dutch LSA. The same rules are applied to loans in a portfolio when analysing Dutch mortgages with the DBRS Morningstar European RMBS Insight Model. As a result of this aggregation, every borrower has one score per property based on the consolidated loan.

A set of data-cleaning rules was applied to the Dutch loans in the EDW to identify a dataset to develop the Dutch LSA. The dataset included loans with the following characteristics:

- For each reporting date, there is a 12-month performance window of data available subsequent to that reporting date;
- The account is current at the as-of date;
- The current balance is greater than EUR 1,000; and
- The current interest rate is between 0% and 20%.

Given the universe of loans, the data on each loan is assembled with the risk characteristics at the as-of date and the binary outcome variable ("good loan" vs "bad loan") assigned based on its observed performance over the subsequent 12 months from the as-of date. A loan is considered a "bad loan" if, during the 12-month period, it either (1) entered into 90+ days arrears, (2) was foreclosed, (3) was repurchased from a delinquency status of two months or more, or (4) was prepaid from a delinquency status of two months or more, it is considered a "good loan".

Loans with multiple as-of dates were subject to entering the reference sample only once. Bad loans did not represent a very high proportion and, as a result, were oversampled to increase their presence in the reference sample. The reference sample for the Dutch LSA included approximately 90,000 loans, of which 17,000 were considered "bad loans" and 73,000 were considered to be "good loans".

Dutch LSA Parameters

The Dutch LSA was built with objective variables (loan and borrower characteristics) and judgmental variables (Dutch Underwriting Score and Deal Quality). The Dutch LSA consists of 29 parameters from 16 variables (Exhibit 1). Exhibit 1 also reports the odds ratio for each parameter. The odds ratio measures the effect of each parameter in the Dutch LSA.

Exhibit 1 Du	tch LSA I	Parameters
EXHIBIC I DU	ίση γολι	

20 40% - 50% 13 75% - 85% 23 90% - 100%	Continuous Continuous
20 40% - 50% 13 75% - 85% 23 90% - 100%	Continuous Continuous
13 75% - 85% 23 90% - 100%	Continuous
23 90% - 100%	
	Continuous
17 115% – 125%	Continuous
12 24 months – 36 mont	ths Continuous
38 108 months – 120 mor	nths Continuous
93 168 months – 180 mor	nths Continuous
97 228 months – 240 mor	nths Continuous
)6 3.3x - 3.8x	Continuous
20 4.0x - 4.5x	Continuous
)9 5.0x – 5.5x	Continuous
)4 2.5% - 3%	Continuous
	12 24 months – 36 mon 18 108 months – 120 mol 13 168 months – 180 mol 167 228 months – 240 mol 166 3.3x – 3.8x 20 4.0x – 4.5x 199 5.0x – 5.5x

Parameter	Odds Ratio	Variable Change	Variable Type
Loan Seasoning 60-120 Months	0.94	72 months – 84 months	Continuous
Property Type - House/Flat/Terraced House	0.62		Binary
Self-Employed or Unspecified	1.60		Binary
NHG Guarantee	0.76		Binary
No Income Reported	1.50		Binary
Multiple Loan Parts	1.16		Binary
Repayment Loans	1.43		Binary
Life Insurance Mortgage	1.46		Binary
Equity Release/Debt Consolidation	2.43		Binary
Floating-Rate Loan	0.61		Binary
Dutch Underwriting Score			
High	0.60		Binary
Medium	1.00		Binary
Low	1.63		Binary
Dutch Portfolio Benchmarking			
Good	0.79		Binary
Moderate	1.00		Binary
Bad	1.49		Binary

Given the nature of the scoring approach, the most direct way to measure the effect of a variable is by examining the odds ratio. Take, for example, the binary variable Self-Employed. The odds ratio comparing Self-Employed to non-Self-Employed is:

(*P*[*Self-Employed*]/(1-*P*[*Self-Employed*])) / (*P*[*non-Self-Employed*]/ (1-*P*[*non-Self-Employed*]))

Here, P[Self-Employed] is the probability of a loan to a self-employed borrower becoming bad in the 12-month time horizon. For logistic regression, the odds ratio constructed on the values of one explanatory variable does not depend on the values of any of the other explanatory variables. Variables included in the Dutch LSA are either binary, where the loan includes the relevant parameter or does not, or continuous, where the odds ratio represents a specific change in the variable. For binary variables, the odds ratio is calculated for each value as a loan characteristic versus not a loan characteristic. Furthermore, for the continuous variables Indexed LTV, Interest Rate Reset Interval, Interest Rate Margin, Current LTI Ratio, and Loan Seasoning, the change in odds ratio is not constant across the spectrum. For example, the odds ratios for a 10% Indexed LTV change are greater from 90% to 100% versus 115% to 125%.

Variables Summary

Interest Rate Margins

The Dutch mortgage market is dominated by fixed-rate mortgages where the interest rate is set for a fixed period of time and adjusts to the relevant fixed rate at the reset date. For example, a five-year fixed-rate loan with a 30-year term would be set with an interest rate at origination equal to the five-year fixed rate offered by the lender. After the initial five-year fixed-rate period, the rate would reset to the five-year fixed rate offered by the lender at that point in time.

92% of the mortgages in the Dutch reference sample were reported as fixed rate with 8% classified as floating rate. Interest rate margins for both fixed- and floating-rate mortgages are generally used to assess the borrower's relative credit risk. However, interest rate margins were typically not reported for fixed-rate loans. An interest rate margin was estimated for each fixed-rate loan by first defining an index and then subtracting the index value, as of the most recent contractual reset date, from the reported interest rate. The defined index is a blend of the five-year Dutch government bond yield and the five-year Dutch swap curve. DBRS Morningstar uses the same approach to estimate the interest rate margin on fixed-rate loans when using the DBRS Morningstar Insight Model for Dutch mortgages.

Dutch Underwriting Score and Portfolio Score

The Dutch LSA includes two judgmental variables to assess the credit risk of Dutch residential portfolios: the Dutch Underwriting Score and the Dutch Portfolio Score. Each variable is an ordinal variable with three values as listed in Exhibit 1. Both the Dutch Underwriting Score and the Dutch Portfolio Score were developed to factor in considerations about the credit quality of a portfolio not necessarily observed in the loan-level data. The Dutch Underwriting Score allows an analyst to benchmark originators' underwriting quality and strategy, while the Dutch Portfolio Score can be used to address other factors that may have an impact on portfolio performance.

The Dutch Underwriting Score was constructed based on an assessment of the originating entities for loans in the EDW. The size and type of the lender were the main factors considered, where size (small, medium, and big) was used as a proxy for the lender's market position and type (deposit-taking banks, insurance company, or specialised lenders) as a proxy for the business model. The size classification was based on the market share of the lender in terms of outstanding mortgage loans (1% for small, between 1% and 10% for medium, and above 10% for big). This ranking was done for bank and insurance firms separately and based on the outstanding mortgage loan balances published by the Dutch Central Bank. The type of lender was assigned on the general business model identified for the originator. In addition to this classification, DBRS Morningstar assesses other qualitative factors when assigning the Dutch Underwriting Score to a transaction, including: length and consistency of originations, current underwriting guidelines, and changes to underwriting guidelines.

As a result of this analysis, the underwriting score, as part of the LSA, comprises three different levels. The lowest risk, with all the other loan and borrower characteristics being equal, should be expected for lenders with a well-established track record and low risk profile in the form of, amongst other things, more prudent underwriting criteria and better historical performance. The highest risk should be applied to lenders with nonmarket standard practices or aggressive underwriting strategies. All other types of originators would fall into the market standard or medium risk category.

The Dutch Portfolio Score was estimated based on analysis of transactional performance data of 210 Dutch RMBS transactions in Intex from Q1 2000 to Q4 2012. The maximum 90-day plus delinquency rate of each transaction was set based on historical performance data. The distribution of the maximum values was analysed with good assigned to portfolios in the lower quartile, moderate assigned to the second and third quartiles, and bad assigned to the fourth quartile. Deals

were assigned a good, moderate, or bad score independent of the Dutch Underwriting Score. The deal-level Dutch Portfolio Score from each transaction was subsequently assigned to each of the loans in the Dutch loan universe when constructing the Dutch LSA. Transactions included in the loan universe but not in the Intex dataset were assigned a Dutch Portfolio Score using a benchmark approach based on the transaction characteristics.

DBRS Morningstar will assess both qualitative and quantitative factors to evaluate the potential deviation of expected performance versus loans with comparable characteristics when assigning the Dutch Portfolio Score. These factors can include either positive or adverse loan selection, or volatile historical performance from an issuer's securitisation programme.

Dutch Mortgage Products

The Dutch mortgage sector includes loan products where the loan balance does not amortise but a borrower also makes monthly payments to an additional repayment vehicle, which are expected to accrue to the outstanding loan balance at maturity. These products include savings, investment, and insurance loans (or possibly a combination). For the purpose of calculating the exposure at default of each of these products when estimating defaults, the loan balance is not assumed to amortise, effectively being treated as an interest-only loan. However, the amount of the repayment vehicle is calculated based on the expected loan amortisation given the loan characteristics and loan seasoning. This amount is applied to reduce the exposure at default when calculating losses.

Each of these repayment vehicles is expected to accrue to equal the balance of the outstanding mortgage at maturity. DBRS Morningstar will assess the product specifications for each of these repayment vehicles to determine if there is a potential for a mismatch between the two balances at maturity, particularly for investment products and insurance products. If the product specifications are unclear as to the expected value at loan maturity, a discount to the par value of the repayment vehicle may be applied resulting in an increased exposure at default when calculating losses.

Each of these product types has potential for set-off risk in case of default of the relevant counterparty (i.e., mortgage originator, insurance company, or account bank). Structural features are included to mitigate this risk for some products (i.e., savings participation agreements for savings loans). In the case of insurance loans, set-off risk may be elevated if it is proven that the insurance policy and mortgage loan were part of the same financial arrangement allowing the possibility for the borrower to set off the mortgage loan liability against the life insurance asset. This risk is typically mitigated through a diversification of insurers within a transaction. DBRS Morningstar will assess the potential set-off risk for loan products on a transactional basis and may apply a discount to the amount of credit given to the repayment vehicle in the loss calculation.

National Hypotheek Garantie (NHG Guarantee)

The NHG Guarantee is a national mortgage insurance scheme for eligible borrowers in the Netherlands administered by a central privatised entity (Stichting Waarborgfonds Eigen Woningen, the WEW) under strict eligibility criteria.

The scheme guarantees mortgage lenders against losses incurred following default and repossessions on eligible loans, including losses of principal, interest and costs associated with foreclosure. There are two significant circumstances where the NHG Guarantee either does not pay out at all or does not pay out the full amount claimed:

- Amortisation: The NHG Guarantee assumes that a loan amortises over a 30-year period regardless
 of the actual loan amortisation (as of January 2013 all loans backed by an NHG Guarantee should
 be repaid on a 30-year annuity basis). A mismatch between the mortgage balance and NHG
 Guarantee amount may exist depending on the type of loan guaranteed, original term of the loan,
 and seasoning of the loan.
- Noncompliance with the NHG Guarantee: The NHG Guarantee has prescriptive eligibility rules, and the lender is responsible for ensuring each application meets the NHG conditions. In the event that the loan was underwritten in breach of eligibility rules, all or part of the claim amount may not be paid by the NHG. Additionally, in the case of proven fraud the NHG Guarantee will not pay out any of the claim amount.

The NHG guarantee benefit is applied in the European RMBS Insight Model as additional proceeds to cover periodic losses as defined under the scheme.² The NHG Guarantee will only cover the losses on the guaranteed outstanding loan balance according to the 30-year annuity schedule calculated by the original loan terms. For loans originated after 1 January 2014, 10% of the loss will not be covered by the guarantee. Further, the NHG can reject a lender's claims and a so-called rescission rate is applied to account for potential noncompliance with the NHG terms.

Higher rescission rates effectively reduce the amount of the NHG guarantee. DBRS Morningstar analysed over 5,000 cases from multiple lenders where a loss to the NHG was claimed. The historical mean rescission rate observed on this sample is 26%. In the absence of data provided by the issuer, DBRS Morningstar applies a base rescission rate of 25% in the BBB and below rating scenarios. A different base rescission rate may be applied if supported by historical data. DBRS Morningstar assumes higher rescission rates in higher rating scenarios and applies the following increase to the base rescission rate at the respective rating level in the periodic loss calculation.

Rating Stress Scenario	Rescission Rate Increase
AAA	15%
АА	10%
A	5%
BBB and below	0%

Dutch Segmentation and Delinquency Migration Matrices

The Dutch LSA was applied to approximately 1,762,000 loans to estimate a loan-level score and assess the distribution of scores. Twelve risk segments were identified for the purpose of calculating Dutch DMMs with a corresponding DMM for each risk segment. Exhibit 2 below shows cumulative percentiles for the distribution of scores within each risk segment. Additionally, Exhibit 2 shows the low and high Dutch LSA score for each of the 12 risk segments.

² See Appendix A for further details.

Exhibit 2 Dutch LSA Score Distribution

Segment	Cumulative Percentile Low		High		
1	10%	0.0%	4.2%		
2	20%	4.2%	6.2%		
3	30%	6.2%	8.3%		
4	40%	8.3%	10.7%		
5	50%	10.7%	13.4%		
6	60%	13.4%	16.6%		
7	70%	16.6%	20.4%		
8	80%	20.4%	25.2%		
9	90%	25.2%	32.7%		
10	94%	32.7%	37.9%		
11	98%	37.9%	47.6%		
12	100%	47.6%	100.0%		

DMMs are calculated for each risk segment by computing the average roll rate observed in the loan-level data between Q1 2013 and Q2 2016. For the Netherlands, the roll rates measure the quarterly transition rates between the six states described in the DBRS Morningstar *European RMBS Insight Methodology*.³

The risk segmentation exhibits separation in the default risk across the distribution of loan scores. When iterating the DMM within each risk segment over time, higher cumulative default rates are calculated for higher-risk segments. Exhibit 3 shows the cumulative defaults forecast per risk segment over 50 iterations for a non-amortising pool⁴ of current loans as of period zero.

Exhibit 3 Cumulative Default Expectation per Dutch Risk Segment



³ The six states are DQ0, DQ1, DQ2, DQ3, Default, and Redeemed.

⁴ Assumed 0% conditional prepayment rate (CPR).

Looking at Exhibit 2 and Exhibit 3 together, for a portfolio of current non-amortising Dutch loans, the following could be expected:

- For a high-quality portfolio in which all the loans have an initial Dutch LSA score less than 4.2%, risk segment one, the expected default rate would be approximately 0.9%.
- For an average-quality portfolio in which all the loans have an initial Dutch LSA score between 10.7% and 13.4%, risk segment five, the expected default rate would be approximately 2.5%.
- For a low-quality portfolio in which all the loans have an initial Dutch LSA score greater than 47.6%, risk segment 12, the expected default rate would be approximately 18.2%.

Exhibit 3 illustrates a simplified estimate of potential default rates for each of the 12 different segments. In this example, the respective DMM for each risk segment is applied to a portfolio of performing non-amortising loans for 12.5 years. Ultimately, a forecast portfolio default rate will be a function of the underlying loan characteristics and each loan's amortisation profile. The loan amortisation profile determines the exposure at default (EAD) to calculate the periodic loan-level defaults. For the Netherlands, the EAD for a given period is equal to the outstanding loan balance 12 months⁵ prior to the loan defaulting, which is reflective of market practice for recognising defaults.

Dutch Correlation

The correlation applied to each portfolio for estimating rating scenario default rates is a function of the expected default rate of the portfolio. Correlations assigned to each portfolio range from 12% to 30% with higher-default portfolios assigned lower correlations and lower-default portfolios assigned higher correlations (Exhibit 4). The scale of correlations for each expected portfolio default rate is based on a modification of the Basel III framework.⁶



⁵ Defined as "k" in the Base-Case Default Rates section of the European RMBS Insight Methodology

⁶ Asset correlation for corporate, sovereign, and bank exposures assumption per Basel III – BIS, Basel III: A global regulatory framework for more resilient banks and banking system, December 2010, pg. 39.

DBRS Morningstar estimated correlations from the data across the risk segments between 3.0% and 5.0%. The correlations were estimated during a period of relatively benign macroeconomic conditions (decreasing and low interest rates, low unemployment, and stable house prices). During periods of economic stress, risks not reflected in the available data may influence the performance of portfolios with lower-expected defaults versus those with higher-expected defaults. As a result, DBRS Morningstar has applied higher correlations for lower-default portfolios.

Dutch House Prices⁷

The Dutch MVDs are estimated at the national level, the three larger cities, and the 12 provinces of the Netherlands as reported by Statistics Netherlands. Statistics Netherlands reports quarterly data since 1995. Real house prices were calculated using the harmonised CPI data with March 2020 as the base year. MVDs typically applied for each group are shown below in Exhibit 5. House price indexation and MVDs reflect data through the fourth quarter of 2022. MVDs are applied to the updated property value to discount the sale price of a property to calculate periodic losses.

Exhibit 5 Dutch MVDs

Region	AAA	AA	Α	BBB	BB	В	Volatile	Overheated
Amsterdam	-34.8%	-28.5%	-21.1%	-14.7%	-8.5%	-5.0%	No	No
Drenthe	-28.1%	-22.0%	-15.5%	-10.5%	-5.8%	-3.3%	No	No
Flevoland	-29.6%	-23.5%	-16.8%	-11.5%	-6.4%	-3.7%	No	No
Friesland	-29.7%	-23.5%	-16.8%	-11.5%	-6.4%	-3.7%	No	No
Gelderland	-28.1%	-22.1%	-15.6%	-10.6%	-5.8%	-3.3%	No	No
Groningen	-27.4%	-21.4%	-15.0%	-10.1%	-5.5%	-3.1%	No	No
Limburg	-26.2%	-20.4%	-14.2%	-9.4%	-5.1%	-2.8%	No	No
Noord-Brabant	-27.0%	-21.1%	-14.7%	-9.8%	-5.4%	-3.0%	No	No
Noord-Holland	-29.8%	-23.7%	-17.0%	-11.6%	-6.5%	-3.7%	No	No
Overijssel	-27.4%	-21.5%	-15.1%	-10.1%	-5.5%	-3.1%	No	No
Rotterdam	-29.3%	-23.2%	-16.6%	-11.3%	-6.3%	-3.6%	No	No
The Hague	-31.5%	-25.2%	-18.3%	-12.6%	-7.1%	-4.1%	No	No
Utrecht	-28.9%	-22.9%	-16.3%	-11.0%	-6.1%	-3.5%	No	No
Zeeland	-27.2%	-21.2%	-14.8%	-10.0%	-5.4%	-3.0%	No	No
Zuid-Holland	-27.1%	-21.1%	-14.7%	-9.9%	-5.4%	-3.0%	No	No
Country	-27.1%	-21.2%	-14.8%	-9.9%	-5.4%	-3.0%	No	No

Exhibit 5 also includes the market status for purposes of the MVD simulation where markets are considered overheated if the real House Price Index (2020=100) has increased above 150 in the most recent run-up and has yet to drop below 85. Volatile indicates if a market has ever been overheated. An overheated market that drops again below 85 is considered to be normal again, but will continue to be looked at as volatile.

Dutch Distressed Sale Discount

The Dutch Distressed Sale Discount (DSD) assumption is typically 20%. This is based on analysis of over 9,800 repossessed properties that were sold between 2002 and 2015. The dataset includes sold properties from the EDW as well as foreclosure and NHG claim data provided to DBRS

⁷ See European RMBS Insight Methodology for further details.

Morningstar by Dutch servicers. Where lender-specific loan-level repossession data is available DBRS Morningstar may apply DSD based on lenders data. DSDs are applied to the expected property value after applying the MVD and meant to address a property sale in a liquidation scenario.

Dutch Foreclosure Costs

DBRS Morningstar estimates Dutch foreclosure costs to be typically 3.0% of the outstanding loan balance at the time of default and a fixed cost of EUR 3,500. DBRS Morningstar's estimates of the variable and fixed costs are based on information from its operational reviews and servicer feedback.

DBRS Morningstar recognises that, in periods of high economic stress, it may be difficult or even impossible to find a market-clearing price for residential real estate resulting in potential losses, which may be greater than those implied by stressed liquidation values. The LGD assumptions are therefore typically floored for the AAA, AA, A, and below-A rating scenarios at 25%, 20%, 15%, and 10%, respectively. In the case of a loan part enjoying the benefit of a NHG guarantee, these floors are typically only applied to the rejected amount (see rescission rates in the section NHG Guarantees).

Dutch Constant Prepayment Rate Assumptions

Dutch conditional prepayment rates (CPRs) have exhibited a wide range of variability since 2014 with the median 12-month CPR ranging between 5% and 22%. The trends in CPRs can be attributed to a combination of factors including the term structure of Dutch loans, liquidity available to borrowers, and the current interest rate environment.

As described earlier, the market is characterised by fixed-rate mortgages where the interest rate is set for a fixed period of time and adjusts to the relevant fixed rate at the reset date. CPRs would be expected to be low during the fixed-rate period with increases occurring after the initial reset date if more attractive financing opportunities are available.

DBRS Morningstar assumes a 5% CPR over the life of the transaction for the Dutch LSA. The 5% is below the averages observed in market data. CPR assumptions may be adjusted depending on the underlying portfolio characteristics, including the distribution of interest rate resets and level of interest rates.

Dutch Cash Flow Assumptions

Prepayments

Three prepayment stresses are generally run for the DBRS Morningstar cash flow stresses. The assumptions for the Netherlands are typically 5% - Slow, 10% - Middle, and 20% - Fast.

Recovery Timing

The Dutch recovery timing assumption for cash flow analysis is typically 24 months. This is based on further analysis of the repossessed loans used to estimate the Dutch DSDs. The recovery timing is the time between the first period in which a loan stops contributing principal and interest payments to the collections and the receipt of the recoveries on the loan.

Appendix A

DBRS Morningstar assumes the guarantee always ranks first in the application of collateral proceeds.⁸ Losses for loans without the NHG Guarantee are calculated as follows, with adjustments made to the Loss definition found in the *European RMBS Insight Methodology*:

Loss (No NHG) = Max (0, EAD - Collateral Proceeds + Foreclosure Costs) Where

- EAD = Exposure at Default
- Collateral Proceeds = Sales Prices + Repayment Vehicle Collateral
- Sales Price = EPV * (1-MVD) * (1-DSD)
- Repayment Vehicle Collateral = Hypothetical scheduled balance of the savings, life insurance, or investment balance on the basis of annuity payments.⁹

Borrowers with a repayment vehicle are contractually obligated to make those payments. In its asset model, DBRS Morningstar will assume that products with repayment vehicles (savings, insurance, or investment contracts) are treated as interest-only loans. As a result, the EAD of these loan products does not amortise over time. DBRS Morningstar may apply a haircut to the expected accrual amount if set-off risk is determined to be material or if there is uncertainty over whether the accrual schedule will match the outstanding balance. DBRS Morningstar will consider the characteristics of the savings, life insurance, and investment products to establish whether to apply any haircuts in its analysis.

The Sales Price is estimated by first indexing the property value, then applying an MVD and then finally applying a DSD. Expected Property Values are indexed using the home price index published by Statistics Netherlands. This indexation is currently updated to December 2022.

Where the NHG Guarantee is applied, losses are calculated as follows: Loss (NHG) = Max (0, EAD – Collateral Proceeds + Foreclosure Costs – NHG Payout)

The amount of NHG Payout is a determined by

- 1. Calculating the expected balance based on a 30-year amortisation profile;
- Calculating the covered balance as the minimum of the EAD and the expected balance calculated in point one;
- Calculating the NHG Payout as the covered balance, less Collateral Proceeds, plus Foreclosure Costs, if this number is positive; and
- 4. Discounting the NHG Payout by 10% for loans originated after 1 January 2014 to account for the loss-sharing provision implemented by Stichting Waarborgfonds Eigen Woningen.

⁸ DBRS Morningstar assumptions regarding the application of collateral proceeds are based upon a review of NHG's Conditions & Norms 2016-2 and discussions with market participants.

⁹ DBRS Morningstar computes the hypothetical balance as the difference of the outstanding loan balance at the pool cut-off date and the expected amortisation schedule given the outstanding balance, remaining term, and interest rate.

The final loss for NHG loans is calculated to account for rescission rates: Loss (Final) = Loss (NHG) * (1-RR) + Loss (No NHG) * RR Where

RR = Rescission Rate

A rescission rate of zero would result in the final loss being equal to the Loss (NHG), meaning full benefit is given to the NHG Guarantee. A rescission rate of 100% would result in the final loss being equal to the Loss (No NHG), meaning no benefit is given to the NHG Guarantee.

About DBRS Morningstar

DBRS Morningstar is a full-service global credit ratings business with approximately 700 employees around the world. We're a market leader in Canada, and in multiple asset classes across the U.S. and Europe.

We rate more than 4,000 issuers and nearly 60,000 securities worldwide, providing independent credit ratings for financial institutions, corporate and sovereign entities, and structured finance products and instruments. Market innovators choose to work with us because of our agility, transparency, and tech-forward approach.

DBRS Morningstar is empowering investor success as the go-to source for independent credit ratings. And we are bringing transparency, responsiveness, and leading-edge technology to the industry.

That's why DBRS Morningstar is the next generation of credit ratings.

Learn more at dbrsmorningstar.com.

M RNINGSTAR DBRS

The DBRS Morningstar group of companies consists of DBRS, Inc. (Delaware, U.S.)(NRSRO, DRO affiliate); DBRS Limited (Ontario, Canada)(DRO, NRSRO affiliate); DBRS Ratings GmbH (Frankfurt, Germany)(EU CRA, NRSRO affiliate,) DRO affiliate); and DBRS Ratings Limited (England and Wales)(UK CRA, NRSRO affiliate). DRO affiliate). DBRS Morningstar does not hold an Australian financial services license. DBRS Morningstar credit ratings, and other types of credit opinions and reports, are not intended for Australian residents or entities. DBRS Morningstar does not authorize their distribution to Australian resident individuals or entities, and accepts no responsibility or liability whatsoever for the actions of third parties in this respect. For more information on regulatory registrations, recognitions and approvals of the DBRS Morningstar group of companies, please see: https://www.dbrsmorningstar.com/research/225752/highlights.pdf.

The DBRS Morningstar group of companies are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Morningstar, Inc.

© 2023 DBRS Morningstar. All Rights Reserved. The information upon which DBRS Morningstar credit ratings and other types of credit opinions and reports are based is obtained by DBRS Morningstar from sources DBRS Morningstar believes to be reliable. DBRS Morningstar does not audit the information it receives in connection with the analytical process, and it does not and cannot independently verify that information in every instance. The extent of any factual investigation or independent verification depends on facts and circumstances. DBRS Morningstar credit ratings, other types of credit opinions, reports and any other information provided by DBRS Morningstar are provided "as is" and without representation or warranty of any kind and DBRS Morningstar assumes no obligation to update any such ratings, opinions, reports or other information. DBRS Morningstar hereby disclaims any representation or warranty, express or implied, as to the accuracy, timeliness, completeness, merchantability, fitness for any particular purpose or non-infringement of any of such information. In no event shall DBRS Morningstar or its directors, officers, employees, independent contractors, agents, affiliates and representatives (collectively, DBRS Morningstar Representatives) be liable (1) for any inaccuracy, delay, loss of data, interruption in service, error or omission or for any damages resulting therefrom, or (2) for any direct, indirect, incidental, special, compensatory or consequential damages arising from any use of credit ratings, other types of credit opinions and reports or arising from any error (negligent or otherwise) or other circumstance or contingency within or outside the control of DBRS Morningstar or any DBRS Morningstar Representative, in connection with or related to obtaining, collecting, compiling, analyzing, interpreting, communicating, publishing or delivering any such information. IN ANY EVENT, TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW. THE AGGREGATE LIABILITY OF DBRS MORNINGSTAR AND THE DBRS MORNINGSTAR REPRESENTATIVES FOR ANY REASON WHATSOEVER SHALL NOT EXCEED THE GREATER OF (A) THE TOTAL AMOUNT PAID BY THE USER FOR SERVICES PROVIDED BY DBRS MORNINGSTAR DURING THE TWELVE (12) MONTHS IMMEDIATELY PRECEDING THE EVENT GIVING RISE TO LIABILITY, AND (B) U.S. \$100. DBRS Morningstar does not act as a fiduciary or an investment advisor. DBRS Morningstar does not provide investment, financial or other advice. Credit ratings, other types of credit opinions and other analysis and research issued by DBRS Morningstar (a) are, and must be construed solely as, statements of opinion and not statements of fact as to credit worthiness, investment, financial or other advice or recommendations to purchase, sell or hold any securities; (b) do not take into account your personal objectives, financial situations or needs; (c) should be weighed, if at all, solely as one factor in any investment or credit decision; (d) are not intended for use by retail investors; and (e) address only credit risk and do not address other investment risks, such as liquidity risk or market volatility risk. Accordingly, credit ratings, other types of credit opinions and other analysis and research issued by DBRS Morningstar are not a substitute for due care and the study and evaluation of each investment decision, security or credit that one may consider making, purchasing, holding, selling, or providing, as applicable. A report with respect to a DBRS Morningstar credit rating or other credit opinion is neither a prospectus nor a substitute for the information assembled, verified and presented to investors by the issuer and its agents in connection with the sale of the securities, DBRS Morningstar may receive compensation for its credit ratings and other credit opinions from, among others, issuers, insurers, guarantors and/or underwriters of debt securities. This publication may not be reproduced, retransmitted or distributed in any form without the prior written consent of DBRS Morningstar. ALL DBRS MORNINGSTAR CREDIT RATINGS AND OTHER TYPES OF CREDIT OPINIONS ARE SUBJECT TO DEFINITIONS, LIMITATIONS, POLICIES AND METHODOLOGIES THAT ARE AVAILABLE ON https://www.dbrsmorningstar.com, Users may, through hypertext or other computer links, gain access to or from websites operated by persons other than DBRS Morningstar. Such hyperlinks or other computer links are provided for convenience only. DBRS Morningstar does not endorse the content, the operator or operations of third party websites. DBRS Morningstar is not responsible for the content or operation of such third party websites and DBRS Morningstar shall have no liability to you or any other person or entity for the use of third party websites.